RECEIVED
AUG 14 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000881

Eugene A. Gardner, III,.....Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

VALERIE GARCIA GIOVANOLI
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #102524

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR judge commit an error of law in granting post-conviction relief based on a conversation between Gardner and an individual that was not Gardner's trial attorney about pleading guilty?

- II. Did the PCR judge err in granting post-conviction relief based on Counsel discovering Gardner engaged in a consensual conversation with another individual about pleading guilty, advising Gardner to plead guilty, and not informing the plea judge of the prior conversation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gardner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections (“SCDC”) pursuant to orders of commitment of the Darlington County Clerk of Court. In February 2013, the Darlington County Grand Jury indicted Gardner for murder (2005-GS-16-0452). Julie R. Swilley (“Counsel”), Esquire, represented Gardner and J. Richard Jones (“Co-Counsel”), Esquire, assisted as co-counsel. On December 2, 2013, Gardner proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. On December 3, 2013, after the State’s first witness, Gardner changed his plea to guilty to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Judge Baxley sentenced Gardner to twenty (20) years’ imprisonment. Gardner did not appeal his plea or sentence.

Trial Proceedings

After jury selection, Counsel made a motion to suppress Gardner’s statement given to law enforcement. (App. p. 46, ll. 21 – 24). Counsel argued that because of a 15 hour lapse between Gardner’s arrest and his interview and alleged “threats” made by law enforcement, his statement was not voluntary. (App. p. 47, ll. 16 – 25). Investigator Mark Luce testified *in camera* that he was assigned to work Gardner’s murder case. (App. p. 50, ll. 11-12). Luce arrested Gardner in North Carolina where he then took Gardner to the Ashe County Jail and recorded his statement. (App. p. 50, ll. 13 – 21).

Luce had sought the help of the U.S. Marshals Service and North Carolina Law Enforcement in arresting Gardner. (App. p. 58, ll. 1 – 6). Luce and Sergeant Peavy left Darlington early in the morning and arrived in North Carolina at “9:30 or so.” (App. p. 58, ll. 7 – 9). Luce obtained a search warrant to search Gardner’s home and finished the search at about 11:30 am. (App. p. 58, ll. 13 – 18). Luce then secured a search warrant for Gardner’s vehicle

which took until about 4:00pm. (App. p. 58, ll. 19 – 22). While executing the search of Gardner's vehicle, Gardner made a call from the jail to his home and he was overheard by jail personnel telling the person on the other end of the phone to make sure the police did not find the blue bag and to hide the blue bag behind the chimney. (App. p. 58, ll. 23 – p. 59, ll. 7). It took another few hours to obtain a second search warrant to locate the blue bag. (App. p. 59, ll. 4 – 13).

At this point, it was about 7:30 and Luce had to stop to eat. (App. p. 59, ll. 14 – 15). Luce wanted to await the results of the second search warrant before interviewing Gardner, to see if they could in fact find the blue bag. (App. p. 59, ll. 16 – 22). Luce returned to Gardner's home, over an hour away from where he was, to find out a gun had been found. (App. p. 59, ll. 23 – p. 60, ll. 7). They finished up at Gardner's home at about 11:30pm. (App. p. 60, l. 19). After an hour drive back to the jail in which Gardner was detained, Luce arrived to the jail a little after 12:00am and proceeded to video interview Gardner starting around 12:30am. Luce interviewed him immediately because he knew there would be conversation during the long ride back to South Carolina in the morning. (App. p. 60, ll. 19 – p. 62, ll. 10). During the video interview, Gardner first told Luce he did not know where the gun was, but eventually told Luce where he had hidden the gun. (App. p. 63, ll. 1 – p. 64, ll. 5).

On cross examination, Luce testified he had suspicions Gardner's wife was involved in the murder. (App. p. 64, ll. 20 – 23). Luce admitted he told Gardner during the interview that he may have to put more people in jail, referring to Gardner's friends and family members that may have been involved in the murder. (App. p. 65, ll. 6 – 13). Also on the recorded interview, Luce explained to Gardner that if anyone helped cover up the crime, they would be guilty of accessory after the fact. (App. p. 65, ll. 16 – 19). Counsel continued to question Luce on certain remarks

made during Gardner's interview. (App. pp. 65 – 67). Luce clarified on re-direct examination that none of his statements were veiled threats to lock up Gardner's wife and daughter. (App. p. 68, ll. 3 – 6).

Officer Josh Hodges also testified *in camera*. (App. pp. 75 – 80). Hodges was sitting next to Gardner on a bench while Gardner was on the telephone call and overheard Gardner aggressively saying, "just do it, put it in the chimney or something" and "they can't find the blue bag." (App. p. 76, ll. 13 – 22). After hearing from the State and Counsel, Judge Baxley found Gardner's statement was voluntary and admissible. (App. pp. 81 – 94).

Counsel then argued for suppression of the gun that killed the victim. (App. p. 95, ll. 15 – p. 100, ll. 1). The State responded and explained how the second search warrant was obtained and how, when it was executed, the gun was found where they suspected, behind paneling that had been pulled out of the side of the fireplace in a hidden area. (App. p. 100, ll. 11 – p. 103, ll. 23). After further argument from Counsel and the State, Judge Baxley again denied Gardner's motion to suppress. (App. pp. 112 – 114). The State further confirmed without contradiction or qualification by Counsel there would be no objection to *three* other video recorded statements made by Gardner to law enforcement being admitted at trial. (App. p. 114, ll. 15 – p. 115, ll. 24).

Following the pre-trial motion hearings, the trial began the following day with opening statements. In the State's opening argument, reference was made to the volume of evidence the State was prepared to present. Gardner's brother was found dead in his home with a gunshot wound to the *back* of the head. There was no sign of forced entry to the victim's home. Gardner denied even being in the county, but cell phone records showed he was in Darlington County the day before and the day of his brother's murder. Gardner gave four statements to law enforcement over the course of a nine month investigation. The statements changed as law

enforcement confronted him with more and more damning evidence, the last one resulting in a confession that he shot his brother “by accident.” (App. p. 130 – 140).

The victim was shot with his own 9 mm handgun. Gardner had reported the firearm missing. As mentioned above, the gun was later found in a hidden compartment behind a chimney in Gardner’s residence, after Gardner was overheard on the phone post-arrest telling someone to hide it and make sure it is not found. The State intended to prove Gardner’s motive for killing his brother was greed.¹ Prior to his murder, the victim was the care taker of his and Gardner’s father. The victim lived with their father, took care of him, and his name was on their father’s checking account. After his brother’s murder and after Gardner obtained a power of attorney to access his father’s money, large amounts of that money were then spent by Gardner. (App. pp. 130 – 140).

Following opening statements, the State called the victim’s ex-wife, Susan Gardner Davis, to testify. Ms. Davis was married to the victim, Gardner’s brother, and they lived on family land near Gardner and their parents. (App. pp. 145 – 146). Ms. Davis testified the victim and Gardner’s relationship was “very up and down.” (App. p. 146, l. 10). She testified that shortly after she married the victim, they purchased a 9 mm Ruger gun. (App. p. 151, ll. 24 – 25). She stated that after she and the victim divorced, the victim kept the gun. (App. p. 152, ll. 1 – 2). Ms. Davis found the victim after he had been shot to death in the restaurant where he lived with his father. (App. p. 155, ll. 1 – 10). The following day, Gardner asked for a key to the restaurant to see if anything was missing. (App. p. 15, l. 24 – p. 157, l. 3).

¹ After the victim’s death, Gardner received a power of attorney that gave him authority over his father’s finances – authority the victim had before his death. The State was prepared to introduce bank records, through a Wells Fargo records custodian, to show an amount spent exceeding \$125,000 in a span of approximately four months. The State also had evidence that Gardner continued the spending even after his father’s death and cashed in one of his annuities using the power of attorney. (App. p. 194, l. 5 – p. 195, l. 15).

Ms. Davis testified that following the murder, Gardner persistently tried to spend time with her children, specifically her son. (App. p. 157, l. 4 – p. 158, l. 16). Two weeks after the victim’s murder, Gardner asked for Ms. Davis’s children’s social security number and claimed they could probably get a lot more than she ever got from the victim. (App. p. 158, ll. 17 – 24). Ms. Davis testified that when she arrived at the scene of the shooting, both the front and back doors were locked. (App. p. 159, l. 18 – p. 160, l. 11).

On cross-examination, Ms. Davis testified the victim and the father both lived in a small apartment built off of a closed restaurant, but at the time of the murder, the father was in rehab. (App. p. 162, ll. 17 – 24). Ms. Davis admitted giving a statement to law enforcement that mentioned the victim’s bouts of depression, but, she did not say when he had bouts of depression in her statement. (App. p. 167, l. 2 – p. 168, l. 1; p. 174, l. 15 – 25; p. 175, l. 24 – p. 176, l. 11). Ms. Davis testified the depression had subsided six to eight months before his murder. (App. p. 176, ll. 5 – 8).

Guilty Plea

Following Ms. Davis’s testimony, there was a brief recess. (App. p. 176, ll. 19 – 21). Upon return, Gardner changed his plea to guilty and a colloquy ensued between the judge, Gardner, the attorneys, and the victims. When Counsel was asked whether she had discussed the elements and penalties of the charges and the right to a jury trial with Gardner, she replied, “numerous times, Your Honor, and we are ready and prepared to proceed in trial if that was his option.” (App. p. 179, ll. 6 – 14). Counsel confirmed she believed it was in Gardner’s best interest to enter a guilty plea to voluntary manslaughter. (App. p. 180, ll. 5 – 7).

Gardner was then examined by the judge to confirm his decision to enter his guilty plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Specifically, the judge asked Gardner if he was

admitting that he killed his brother in the sudden heat of passion to which applicant responded, “yes, sir.” (App. p. 180, ll. 16 – 21). Judge Baxley asked why Gardner had a change of heart in the middle of trial, to which Gardner answered, “I didn’t mean for any of this to happen. [...] And I don’t want my family going through this anymore, both sides.” (App. p. 181, l. 25 – p. 182, l. 9). Gardner also testified he believed a guilty plea was in his best interest. (App. p. 182, ll. 10 – 13). Gardner testified it was his decision to plead guilty, not someone else’s. (App. p. 184, l. 25 – p. 185, l. 2). After a colloquy about Gardner’s waiver of his rights, the following exchange occurred between Judge Baxley and Gardner:

Q. All right, sir. Has anyone tried to force you to do this?

A. No, sir.

Q. So you’re telling me that, based on where you find yourself, you’ve made this decision yourself voluntarily to enter this guilty plea[?]

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you satisfied with Ms. Wooten and Mr. Jones’s services?

A. Very much so.

Q. Do you think they’ve done a good job for you?

A. Yes, sir, I really do.

Q. Do you have any complaints at all about the way they’ve represented you?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you feel that anyone has coerced you this morning in coming forward to enter this decision?

A. No, sir.

Q. So tell me again one more time why you’re making this decision at this moment already in trial to enter a guilty plea.

A. I just – I just feel like I want this to end for my family on both sides.

(App. p. 185, ll. 3 – 25). (emphasis added).

And finally, Gardner once again admitted to killing his brother in the heat of passion after sufficient legal provocation. (App. p. 186, ll. 1 – 7). In mitigation, Counsel reiterated Gardner’s prior statements, that Gardner was pleading guilty because he no longer wanted his family to suffer any more pain from a trial. (App. p. 202, ll. 15 – 21). Judge Baxley sentenced Gardner to twenty years’ imprisonment. (App. p. 208, ll. 15 – 23).

PCR

Thereafter, on August 12, 2014, Gardner filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR"). On or about June 11, 2015, the State made its Return, requesting an evidentiary hearing be held. An evidentiary hearing was held on January 10, 2017, at the Marlboro County Courthouse before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Lance S. Boozer, Esquire, represented Gardner. Valerie Garcia Giovanoli, Esquire, of the South Carolina Office of the Attorney General, represented the State. Gardner testified on his own behalf. Scott B. Suggs, Julie R. Swilley, J. Richard Jones, and Gardner's daughter, Taylor Baker, also testified.

Testimony from PCR Hearing

Gardner testified that the killing of his brother was an accident. Both of Gardner's plea counsel, Swilley and Jones, testified the evidence against Gardner was overwhelming and contradictory to Gardner's claim that the murder was an accident. Counsel also testified although the likelihood of conviction and a life sentence was high and Counsel's opinion was Gardner should accept the plea offer, Gardner refused to entertain any plea offers from the Solicitor and insisted on a jury trial. (App. p. 317, l. 22 – p. 318, l. 7; p. 324, l. 4 – 25).

Gardner testified he never received any plea offers. (App. p. 267, ll. 12 – 14). However, Counsel testified she informed Gardner of every offer, of which she believes there were three, because she was obligated to do so. Counsel recalled the offer from the Solicitor was a twenty year recommendation upon a guilty plea to voluntary manslaughter. (App. p. 317, ll. 4 – 11). Counsel indicated her opinion was it was in Gardner's best interest to accept a plea offer. Counsel explained his case would be difficult to win because: 1) he had given multiple untrue statements to law enforcement; 2) there was evidence of a money trail that indicated the murder was done out of greed; 3) there were no witnesses to the crime; 4) Gardner hid the gun used to

kill his brother²; and 5) Gardner's theory that the killing was accidental was contradicted by all of the evidence. (App. p. 317, l. 24 – p. 318, l. 7; p. 324, ll. 17 – 25). In summary, the State's evidence was very strong.

Suggs, the Darlington County Clerk of Court, testified he, too, felt the jury would definitely convict Gardner of murder and Judge Baxley would sentence Gardner to life in prison. Suggs relayed this commonly-shared belief to Gardner in a brief recess during the beginning of trial. Suggs testified because of his relationship as a life-long friend of Gardner, their history of playing sports together as youths and golf as adults, as well as cookouts, card playing, and other social gatherings, Suggs considered Gardner a personal friend. (App. 294, ll. 11 – 22). Suggs further testified he spoke to Gardner as a friend and not in his professional capacity as Clerk of Court. (App. p. 300, l. 24 – p. 301, l. 10).

Suggs initially spoke to Gardner's family, who informed Suggs they did not want a trial and preferred that Gardner plead guilty. The family expressed to Suggs they wanted Gardner to admit he killed the victim. (App. p. 296, ll. 19 – 20; p. 297, ll. 15 – 20; p. 298, ll. 4 – 12). Suggs spoke to Gardner alone in a holding room behind the courtroom during a brief recess after the State had called their first witness in the trial. Suggs admitted it was because of his friendship with Gardner that he had this conversation with him, as it was not typical for him to intercede in a criminal trial. (App. p. 300, l. 25 – p. 301, l. 10). Shortly thereafter, Counsel entered the room surprised to find Suggs discussing the option of a guilty plea with Gardner. Counsel testified Gardner looked concerned. (App. p. 331, ll. 14 – 16). Gardner admitted he was "scared the day [he] walked into the courtroom." (App. p. 286, ll. 11 – 12). Suggs left the

² Notably, Gardner implied the murder weapon was found because he told law enforcement where it was. (App. p. 274, ll. 19 – 25). However, the record clearly contradicts this assertion.

room. Suggs testified he was trying to work out a deal for Gardner with the Solicitor, the family and the judge to accept. (App. p. 305, ll. 4 – 8).

Gardner testified that after Suggs told him that based on his experience of witnessing hundreds of trials, Gardner was most likely going to be convicted and sentenced to life, he lost confidence in his trial and felt pressured. (App. p. 284, ll. 16 – 21). Gardner testified the pressure was from “[e]verything. My attorney[,] what [Suggs] had told me[,] the upset of my family[,] I mean, the whole – the whole – the whole deal.” (App. p. 292, ll. 11 – 14).

Gardner’s daughter, Taylor Baker, testified she arrived half way through the testimony of the state’s first witness. (App. p. 308, ll. 20 – 21). During the following recess, she talked to Gardner after Suggs’s conversation with him. Baker indicated her intentions were to get him to take the State’s plea offer because she did not want to lose her father forever. She indicated she was very emotional in speaking with her father and encouraged him to plead guilty. (App. p. 309, ll. 1 – 25). Baker also testified she did not know Suggs personally and was not sure if she saw him in the room talking to Gardner. (App. p. 310, l. 14 – p. 311, l. 4). Gardner testified that when he saw his daughter upset, he needed relief. Gardner testified seeing his daughter upset was the last thing he wanted and that he was tired. (App. p. 271, ll. 6 – 11). Gardner indicated these factors also played a role in his decision to end his trial and enter a guilty plea. Counsel testified that after Baker left the room, Baker said she told Gardner what she had to. Counsel understood that to mean Baker “told him what he needed to hear so he would take a plea.” (App. p. 338, ll. 4 – 12).

Suggs testified he later left Gardner with Gardner’s attorneys. Gardner testified he continued to discuss pleading guilty with Counsel. Gardner testified he asked Counsel what he should do and whether he should lie. Gardner testified Counsel responded in the affirmative and

told him to lie to the court. (App. p. 267, ll. 1 – 11; p. 269, ll. 4 – 5). Counsel testified she would never tell a client to lie and that she specifically told Gardner to always tell the truth. (App. p. 326, l. 12 – p. 327, l. 1). Counsel informed Gardner he would have to admit to voluntary manslaughter if the judge was to accept his guilty plea. Suggs recalled a discussion of an *Alford* plea, but testified Judge Baxley would not accept an *Alford* plea and would require Gardner to accept responsibility. (App. p. 302, ll. 16 – 24). Counsel testified although Gardner had never expressed a desire to plead guilty, she felt it was in his best interest to do so. Counsel always informed Gardner it was ultimately his decision and she would be prepared either way. Counsel further testified she had eighteen (18) months to prepare for trial, they had in fact started a trial, and she was prepared to go forward with the trial. (App. p. 323, l. 22 – p. 324, l. 9).

Order Granting PCR

On February 17, 2017, Judge Cooper issued an order vacating Gardner's conviction and sentence and granting Gardner a new trial. Judge Cooper found Gardner's guilty plea was involuntary because of the conversation Gardner had with Suggs, without Counsel present and without Counsel's consent. Judge Cooper also found Counsel ineffective because she should have been aware Gardner intended to lie to the plea court and because she should have informed the plea court about Gardner's conversation with Suggs and/or requested Gardner be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea. (App. p. 347). On February 24, 2017, the order was filed with the Darlington County Clerk of Court. The State received the filed Order on February 27, 2017. On or about March 1, 2017, the State filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. (App. p. 356). The State filed a Return to the motion on or about March 2, 2017. (App. p. 364). Judge Cooper denied the motion by Order dated

March 9, 2017 and filed March 13, 2017. (App. p. 365). Thereafter, the State filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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