RECEIVED

DEC 29 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Darlington County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

EUGENE GARDNER,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000881

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

There is evidence in the record to support the PCR court's ruling that Respondent's guilty plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered such that he is entitled to have the plea and sentence vacated and his case remanded for a new trial.

Introduction

Respondent Gardner had rejected three plea offers and begun his trial when he was taken into a private room to meet with Darlington County Clerk of Court, Scott Suggs, who Gardner knew through the small community but considered an “acquaintance” rather than a friend. Gardner's attorney was not present, though she later discovered the meeting and went inside. App. 261, l. 23 – 265, l. 4; App. 282, l. 5 – 283, l. 14; App. 320, l. 4 – 322, l. 19; App. 330, ll. 17-25; App. 332, ll. 1-12. At that point, the damage was done. Suggs had rattled Gardner so much that the man who had been insistent that the shooting death of his brother was an accident, was suddenly considering making a deal. App. 317, ll. 1-21; App. 323, l. 11 – 324, l. 16; App. 329, l. 23 – 334, l. 13. While Gardner's daughter later also made an emotional request to Gardner to plead guilty to insure a lesser sentence, it was undisputed that had Suggs not initiated his attempt to convince Gardner to plead guilty that Gardner would have continued with his trial. App. 279, ll. 16-21; App. 302, l. 25 – 303, l. 6; App. 311, ll. 7-10; App. 334, l. 23 – 335, l. 14.

The PCR court noted the unusual circumstances of this case, finding that even though Suggs interfered with good intentions, the discussion and setting in which it occurred were “quite influential” over Gardner and should not have occurred without Gardner's attorney present. App. 354. He concluded that Suggs' interference rendered the guilty plea involuntary. App. 354 – 355. While the PCR court reasoned that its decision was unaffected by the type of social relationship that existed between Suggs and Gardner or by Suggs' position as Clerk of Court, this

Court had the discretion to consider Suggs' capacity as an elected member of the judicial branch and his conversations with the presiding trial judge regarding what sentence would be imposed following a trial. See Rule 220(c), SCACR; I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 417, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 (2000) (“[I]n raising an additional sustaining ground in an appeal, the party who prevailed in the lower court urges an appellate court to affirm the lower court’s ruling for a reason other than one primarily relied upon by the lower court.”). In addition to finding that the guilty plea was not voluntarily entered, the PCR court granted relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel because she failed to make the trial court aware of the circumstances surrounding the plea, i.e. the influence asserted by Suggs. App. 355.

The PCR court’s findings are supported by the record, such that they must be afforded great deference. See Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). Certiorari should be denied.

Standard of Review

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him.” Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000). “A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of the constitutional rights which accompany a guilty plea ‘may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court and the defendant, between the Court and defendant's counsel, or both.’” Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 625 (1999) (quoting State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). “The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is ‘whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.’ ” Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985) (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31 (1970)).

Because a guilty plea is equivalent to a conviction, the trial court's determination of voluntariness must consider that “[i]gnorance, incomprehension, coercion, terror, inducements, subtle or blatant threats might be a perfect cover-up of unconstitutionality.” Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242-43 (1969).

“In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing.” Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007). “Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing.” Roddy, 339 S.C. at 33, 528 S.E.2d at 420.

“This Court gives great deference to the post-conviction relief (PCR) court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law.” Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). In reviewing the PCR judge’s decision, an appellate court is concerned only with whether any evidence of probative value exists to support that decision. Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006). Accordingly, this Court “will uphold the findings of the PCR court when there is any evidence of probative value to support them, and will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” Council v. State, 380 S.C. 159, 169, 670 S.E.2d 356, 361 (2008).

Discussion

Petitioner oversimplifies this case by framing the argument as “[a] conversation between a defendant and an individual other than the defendant’s trial attorney about pleading guilty does not render a guilty plea involuntary and does not warrant a new trial.” See Cert Pet., p. 16. Contrary to Petitioner’s contention, this case did not involve “a consensual, non-coercive

conversation about pleading guilty.” Cert Pet. 20. It was Scott Suggs, the elected Clerk of Court for Darlington County, who was granted unaccompanied access to Gardner in the midst of Gardner’s trial with one objective – to convince Gardner to plead guilty. Suggs admitted that he was present during the trial as the Clerk, but claimed that when he went into a private room with Gardner during a recess that he was acting as his “friend.” App. 295, ll. 12-21; App. 300, l. 24 – 301, l. 11. The nature of their relationship was disputed by Gardner, Gardner’s daughter, and plea counsel Rochester.⁴ App. 263, ll. 16-24; App. 264, ll. 10-20; App. 282, ll. 15-22; App. 310, ll. 14-18; App. 333, ll. 10-15. It was only Suggs who held himself out as a “friend” of Gardner. App. 294, ll. 10-22; App. 303, l. 24 – 304, l. 4; App. 344, ll. 18-23.

Suggs believed that it was in Gardner’s best interest to plead guilty because of the evidence he had learned about through the media, court filings, and pre-trial motions. App. 295, ll. 2-14; App. 296, ll. 6-7; App. 297, ll. 1-15; App. 305, l. 15 – 307, l. 9. He had also discussed the case with the trial judge, Judge Baxley, who indicated that if the State’s case unfolded as it alleged it would, he would sentence Gardner to life without parole. App. 296, ll. 20-25. He also knew that Decedent’s family was amenable to a plea. They wanted Gardner to admit his guilt but did not want to go through trial or see the photographs of Decedent, which Suggs described as “gruesome.”⁵ App. 296, ll. 8-12; App. 296, ll. 19-20; App. 298, ll. 4-12. Armed with this information, Suggs met with Gardner alone and advised him that, based on the over five hundred trials he had observed, Gardner needed to enter a guilty plea and abandon his accident defense. App. 299, l. 13 – 302, l. 11; App. 305, ll. 13-24.

⁴ There is no basis for Petitioner’s averment that “[i]t is uncontested Suggs was only speaking to Gardner as a friend, not as the Clerk of Court nor as an agent of the prosecution.” Cert Pet., p. 17 n. 4.

⁵ It is not clear from the record how or when Suggs viewed the photographs that would be utilized at trial.

After meeting with Gardner, Suggs spoke with family members of Decedent and Judge Baxley again. Suggs communicated the family's desire for a guilty plea to Judge Baxley, who was concerned about potential "backlash" if the family did not think that the sentence was harsh enough. App. 297, ll. 15-21; App. 298, l. 21 – 299, l. 12. Notably, Gardner had rejected all pre-trial plea offers and had in fact begun his trial. App. 317, ll. 4-21; App. 329, l. 23 – 330, l. 16. There was no dispute, even from Suggs, that had he never initiated a conversation with Gardner, the trial would have continued and Gardner would not have pled guilty. App. 279, ll. 16-21; App. 302, l. 25 – 303, l. 6; App. 334, l. 23 – 335, l. 14.

Petitioner's contention that Judge Cooper's reasoning will "give rise to an overwhelming amount of new trials to any criminal defendant who discussed a guilty plea with someone other than their attorney and outside of their attorney's presence" is simply inaccurate. Of course defendants voluntarily consult with friends and family members regarding how they should proceed when facing criminal charges, both inside and outside of the presence of their attorney. Gardner's plea was not rendered involuntary because he had a consensual discussion about a plea with a close personal friend or family member. Judge Cooper was careful to specify that this case is "unique" and that it was the content and setting of the meeting with Suggs that rendered his influence improper and the plea involuntary. App. 354.

Here, Suggs unilaterally initiated contact with Gardner while the trial was in recess, meeting privately with him in a conference room next the holding cell behind the courtroom. Suggs had access to Gardner there only because of his capacity as a court official. Gardner's attorney was under the impression that Gardner was in the holding cell and was "shocked" when she went to speak with Gardner and found out he was with Suggs. App. 322, ll. 1-6; App. 331, ll. 1-12; App. 337, ll. 17-23. If that were not enough, Suggs unabashedly admitted that he spoke

with Judge Baxley about what sentence would be imposed if Gardner was convicted after trial, the potential of an Alford plea, and Decedent's family member's position regarding a plea. App. 296, ll. 20-25; App. 297, ll. 15- 21; App. 298, ll. 22 – 299, l. 12; App. 302, ll. 20-24. While Suggs may have claimed he was not meeting with Gardner in his capacity as Clerk, he referenced his experience seeing hundreds of trials as the basis for his advice to Gardner that he needed to cut a deal. App. 263, ll. 2-9; App. 282, l. 24 – 283, l. 14; App. 284, ll. 5-13. Petitioner attempts to analogize Gardner's voluntary conversation with his daughter to the earlier conversation with Suggs, but the two are not commiserate. See Cert Pet. p. 20. While Gardner was candid that his daughter's plea had some influence upon him also, had it not been for Suggs' initial, improper contact Gardner would have continued with trial. App. 267, ll. 7-10; App. 279, ll. 16-21; App. 284, l. 16 – 287, 21; App. 292, ll. 9-14.

The fact that Suggs was not a lawyer prohibited from communicating with a represented individual by Rule 4.2, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR, does not make his conduct any less egregious. See Cert. Pet, p. 16, n. 3. While Petitioner cites LoConte v. Dugger, 847 F.2d 745, 753 (11th Cir. 1988), in support of the State's argument. While not binding precedent upon this Court, a full reading of LoConte reveals that it supports the PCR court's decision. In LoConte, the habeas petitioner contended that his guilty plea was rendered involuntary based on a host of allegations, including that he was pressured to accept the plea by his co-defendant, Frank Ignazio. 847 F.2d at 751-52. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals provided the following framework through which to evaluate the claim:

Simply because the appellant was subjected to pressure from sources not associated with the state or prosecutors does not mean that his plea was necessarily involuntary. It is not an uncommon occurrence that a criminal defendant is pressured to some extent by co-defendants, friends, and relatives. These types of influences are inevitable and unavoidable. Short of absolute isolation of a pretrial detainee, the state has no practicable ability to prevent the

exertion of such pressures upon a criminal defendant by his co-defendants and family members. **It is only where the plea is coerced by conduct fairly attributable to the state that the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is offended. Such private coercion may be said to be fairly attributable to the state if it is procured and sanctioned by prosecutors or the state trial court. Additionally, it is at least arguable that such coercion may be attributable to the state if, at the time a defendant offers his guilty plea, the prosecutors or the trial court either know or reasonably should know the existence of such coercions.**

Id. at 753 (emphasis added). The Court ultimately found no evidence in the record to support the contention that the judge or prosecution was aware of or participated in any pressure or coercion exerted by Ignazio against the LaConte. Id. at 752-53.

Here, the fact that Suggs was not sent back to meet with Gardner at the behest of the prosecutor does not mean that his conduct was not attributable to the State, which encompasses more than the solicitor's office. Suggs himself is an elected member of the judicial branch of government. S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-7-10, et seq.; S.C. CONST Art. V, § 24; see also S.C. CONST. art. I, § 8 ("In the government of this State, the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other."). Further, there is some evidence that the trial court either knew or should have known about the existence of Suggs' coercion upon Gardner, as Suggs was communicating directly with Judge Baxley before and after his conversation with Gardner. See App. 296, ll. 20-25; App. 297, ll. 15- 21; App. 298, ll. 22 – 299, l. 12; App. 302, ll. 20-24.

The grant of relief to Respondent was warranted under the facts and circumstances of this case and supported by the evidence. Judge Cooper was in the best position to evaluate the witnesses and discern whether the content and context of Suggs' meeting with Gardner

improperly influenced his decision to plead guilty to the point that it was involuntary. He found that it did and there is no reason for this Court to grant certiorari to review that decision.

II.

There is evidence in the record to support the PCR court's ruling that Respondent's plea attorney rendered ineffective assistance of counsel such that he is entitled to have the plea and sentence vacated and his case remanded for a new trial.

In the Order granting post-conviction relief, the PCR court found that Gardner was not truthful in his responses to the plea court. App. 355. Gardner testified at the PCR hearing that he made the admission of guilt during the plea hearing and responded that no one had forced him to plead guilty because that was what he was told to do. App. 269, l. 14 – 270, l. 2; App. 270, l. 21 – 271, l. 5. The PCR court found that plea counsel “should have been aware that Applicant intended to falsely testify when he inquired whether he should lie to the court prior to the plea.” App. 355. The court further ruled that plea counsel was ineffective because she failed to make the plea court aware of the circumstances leading to the plea and/or requested that the Applicant be allowed to withdraw his plea. App. 355. Because there is evidence to support the PCR court's findings and conclusions, this Court should not grant certiorari. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005); Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006); Council v. State, 380 S.C. 159, 169, 670 S.E.2d 356, 361 (2008).

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has created a two-pronged test to establish ineffective assistance of counsel by which a PCR applicant must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the

defendant. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). The two-part test adopted in Strickland also “applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985). “Plea counsel is ineffective within the meaning of the Sixth Amendment only when the applicant satisfies both requirements.” Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. 559, 561, 681 S.E.2d 592, 593 (2009).

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